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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SMART SAND, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred financing costs, net
Other assets

1,186
—
29,666
1,424
16,402
4,867

$

53,545
233,181
19,398
16,935
388
3,455

Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other expenses
Deferred revenue
Current portion of equipment financing obligations
Current portion of notes payable

326,902

$

246,802

$

10,798
16,394
4,030
8
—

$

26,123
7,576
—
572
288

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 350,000,000 shares authorized; 40,661,188 issued and 40,550,353
outstanding at September 30, 2018; 40,474,085 issued and 40,393,033 outstanding at December 31, 2017
Treasury stock, at cost, 110,835 and 81,052 shares at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
$

31,230
44,190
20,497
8,654
7,100

34,559
—
13,239
8,982
—

111,671

56,780

40
(840)
161,375
54,710
(54)

40
(666)
159,059
31,589
—

215,231

190,022

326,902

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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73,177
171,762
—
—
892
971

$

Total current liabilities
Revolving credit facility, net
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term, net
Asset retirement obligation
Contingent consideration

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

34,740
487
23,377
1,192
9,532
3,849

$

246,802

SMART SAND, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2017

2018

2017

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

$

63,146
40,595

$

22,551

Operating expenses:
Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Gain on contingent consideration
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense, net
Other income
Total other expenses, net
Income tax expense
Net income

$

160,222
110,686

$

94,176
67,360

13,032

49,536

26,816

3,232
501
3,512
(2,100)

1,838
148
2,275
—

8,595
1,165
10,208
(2,100)

5,702
377
6,592
—

5,145

4,261

17,868

12,671

17,406

8,771

31,668

14,145

(758)
90

(114)
76

(668)

Income before income tax expense

39,329
26,297

(1,438)
149

(38)

16,738
4,613

(340)
197

(1,289)

8,733
1,686

(143)

30,379
7,258

14,002
3,354

$

12,125

$

7,047

$

23,121

$

10,648

Basic

$

0.30

$

0.17

$

0.57

$

0.27

Diluted

$

0.30

$

0.17

$

0.57

$

0.26

Net income per common share:

Weighted-average number of common shares:
Basic

40,541

40,384

40,483

40,145

Diluted

40,551

40,416

40,548

40,257

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SMART SAND, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2017

2018

(in thousands)

Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$

12,125

Comprehensive income

$

11,995

$

7,047

$

7,047

(130)

2017
(in thousands)

$

23,121

$

23,067

—

10,648

$

10,648

(54)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

—

SMART SAND, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(UNAUDITED)
Common Stock
Outstanding
Shares

Treasury Stock

Par Value

Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Amount

Retained
Earnings

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Balance at December 31,
2017
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
Vesting of restricted stock
Stock-based compensation
Employee stock purchase
plan compensation
Employee stock purchase
plan issuance
Restricted stock buy back
Net income
Balance at September 30,
2018

40,393,033

$

40

81,052

—
177,464
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
2,133

—
—
—

(54)
—
—

—

—

—

—

56

—

—

—
—
—

—
29,783
—

—
(174)
—

127
—
—

—
—
23,121

—
—
—

40

110,835

9,639
(29,783)
—
40,550,353

$

$

(666)

$

(840)

$

$

159,059

161,375

$

$

31,589

54,710

$

$

—

(54)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

190,022
(54)
—
2,133
56
127
(174)
23,121

$

215,231

SMART SAND, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018

2017
(in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and accretion of asset retirement obligation
Amortization of intangible assets
Asset retirement obligation settlement
Loss on disposal of assets
Amortization of deferred financing cost
Accretion of debt discount
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Employee stock purchase plan compensation
Change in contingent consideration fair value
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Deferred revenue
Accounts payable
Accrued and other expenses
Income taxes payable

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Repayments of notes payable
Payments under equipment financing obligations
Payment of deferred financing and debt issuance costs
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Repayment of revolving credit facility
Proceeds from equity issuance
Payment of equity transaction costs
Purchase of treasury stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year

23,121

$

10,648

12,141
572
(2,219)
253
223
180
7,258
2,133
56
(2,100)

5,210
—
—
187
339
—
3,804
1,378
19
—

(6,386)
(23)
(5,170)
(3,087)
4,030
(2,517)
5,258
—

(15,148)
(639)
5,834
(1,222)
(1,615)
4,561
2,261
(7,058)

33,723

8,559

(29,921)
(81,654)
22

—
(27,582)
14

(111,553)

(27,568)

(288)
(166)
(210)
71,500
(27,000)
127
—
(174)

(282)
(276)
(193)
—
—
26,251
(2,083)
(127)

43,789
—

23,290
—

(34,041)
35,227

4,281
47,534

$

1,186

$

Cash paid for interest

$

870

$

145

Cash paid for taxes

$

725

$

7,657

Contingent consideration

$

9,200

$

—

Asset retirement obligation

$

1,561

$

—

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

51,815

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Non-cash investing activities:

Non-cash financing activities:

Write-off of remaining balance of returned equipment under capital lease

$

398

$

194

Capitalized expenditures in accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

7,920

$

11,924

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SMART SAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)

1. Organization and Nature of Business
Smart Sand, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) are headquartered in The Woodlands, Texas. The Company was incorporated in July
2011, and is a fully integrated frac sand services company, offering complete mine to wellsite solutions for our customers. The Company is engaged in the
excavation, processing and sale of industrial sand, or proppant, for use in hydraulic fracturing operations for the oil and gas industry. The Company’s
integrated Oakdale facility, with onsite rail infrastructure and wet and dry sand processing facilities, has access to two Class I rail lines and enables the
Company to process and cost effectively deliver products to its customers. The Company also offers logistics solutions to its customers through, among other
things, its in-basin transloading terminal and wellsite storage capabilities.
The Company completed construction of the first phase of its mine and and processing facility in Oakdale, Wisconsin and commenced operations in
July 2012, subsequently expanded its operations in 2014 and 2015 and substantially completed the expansion of annual processing capacity to
approximately 5.5 million tons in May 2018.
On March 15, 2018, the Company acquired the rights to operate a unit train capable transloading terminal in Van Hook, North Dakota to service the
Bakken Formation. The Company paid consideration of $15,549 to acquire certain assets at the Van Hook terminal, and entered into a long-term lease
agreement in connection with the transaction. On June 1, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Quickthree Solutions, Inc., a
manufacturer of portable vertical frac sand storage solution systems. The consideration consisted of approximately $30,000 of cash paid at closing and up to
$12,750 in potential earn-out payments, which are to be paid as system components are built and made available for sale or lease over a three-year period.
2. Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements (“interim statements”) of the Company have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form
10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), issued by the SEC. Accordingly, they do
not include all the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments and
disclosures necessary for a fair presentation of these interim statements have been included. The results reported in these interim statements are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be reported for the entire year. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 was derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017. These interim statements should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017.
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not limited to, the sand
reserves and its impact on calculating the depletion expense under the units-of-production method, the depreciation associated with property and equipment,
purchase price allocation for businesses acquired, impairment considerations of assets (including impairment of identified intangible assets, goodwill and
other long-lived assets), estimated cost of future asset retirement obligations, stock-based compensation, recoverability of deferred tax assets, inventory
reserve, contingent consideration and collectability of receivables and certain liabilities. Actual results could differ from management’s best estimates as
additional information or actual results become available in the future, and those differences could be material.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted new accounting standard Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” and all the related amendments (“ASC 606”) in relation to all contracts that were not completed or expired as of January 1, 2018, using the
modified retrospective method. There was no adjustment made to the opening balance of retained earnings as a result of applying the new revenue standard.
Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented under ASC 606, while the comparative information is not restated and will
continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
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SMART SAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)

With the adoption of the standard, the consolidated financial statements are supplemented by new disclosure requirements. Areas of focus and updated
presentation requirements include disclosures regarding contracts with customers, disaggregation of revenue, contract balances, performance obligations,
significant judgments used in the application of the guidance and transaction price allocation to remaining performance obligations.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, the amount of which reflects the consideration
the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.
Sand Sales Revenue
The Company derives its sand sales revenue by mining and processing sand. Its revenues are primarily a function of the price per ton realized and the
volumes sold. The Company’s sales are generally free carrier (“FCA”) at the origination point at the Company’s facility, with title passing as the product is
loaded into railcars hired by the customer or provided by the Company and revenue being recognized when title transfers at the Company’s facility. For sand
delivered in-basin to certain contract and spot-rate customers, the Company recognizes the revenue when title passes at the destination, delivery at terminal,
(“DAT”). The amount invoiced reflects product, transportation and any other additional handling services, such as storage or transloading the product from
railcar to truck.
Prices under the Company’s long-term agreements with customers are generally indexed to the Average Cushing Oklahoma WTI Spot Prices and contain
provisions allowing for adjustments including: (i) annual percentage price increases; and/or (ii) market factor adjustments, including a natural gas
surcharge/reduction and a propane surcharge/reduction which are applied if the Average Natural Gas Price or the Average Quarterly Mont Belvieu TX
Propane Spot Price, respectively, as listed by the U.S. Energy Information Administration, are above or below the applicable benchmark set forth in the
contract for the preceding calendar quarter.
Shortfall Payments
The Company’s shortfall revenues are based on negotiated contract terms and are recognized when rights of use are expired. The Company recognizes
revenue to the extent of the unfulfilled minimum contracted quantity at the shortfall price per ton as stated in the contract once payment is received or
probable. For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized $1,426 and $1,169, respectively, of revenue for shortfall
payments relating to minimum commitments under take-or-pay contracts. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized
$2,094 and $1,244, respectively, of revenue for shortfall payments relating to minimum commitments under take-or-pay contracts.
Railcar Usage Revenue
Railcar usage revenue consists of revenue derived from the usage of the Company’s railcars by customers under long-term contracts or on an as-used
basis. Based on the customer contract, the Company either recognizes revenue on the usage of railcars based on when the terms of the agreement state that the
railcar is available to the customer for use, or based on a specified price per ton shipped. For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Company recognized $2,234 and $2,021, respectively, of railcar revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized
$6,126 and $5,605, respectively, of railcar revenue.
Transportation Revenue
Transportation revenue consists primarily of railway transportation and transload services to deliver products to customers. The Company’s
transportation revenue fluctuates based on many factors, including the volume of product it transports and the distance between its plant and customers.
Revenue generated from transportation was $14,796 and $13,925, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Revenue generated
from transportation was $37,929 and $31,547, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.
Contract Balances
The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled receivables and deferred revenue on the
consolidated balance sheet. For the Company’s sand sales, amounts are billed as sand is loaded on
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SMART SAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)

the railcars to fill customer orders for FCA origination point sales or when sand is received at the destination for FCA or DAT destination point sales and
recorded as accounts receivable. For the Company’s freight revenue, amounts billed depend on the shipping terms and are recorded as receivables
accordingly. Generally, billing occurs subsequent to revenue recognition, though certain billing occurs in advance, resulting in contract assets and liabilities,
respectively. In addition, the Company sometimes receives shortfall payments from its customers and recognizes the revenue once the rights of use are
expired. Changes in the contract asset and liability balances during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 were not materially impacted by
any other factors.
Deferred Revenues
The Company receives advance payments from certain customers in order to secure and procure a reliable provision and delivery of product. The
Company classifies such advances as current or noncurrent liabilities depending upon the anticipated timing of delivery of the supplied product. Revenue is
recognized upon the delivery of the product.
The Company may receive an advance payment from a customer, based on the terms of the customer’s long-term contract, for a certain volume of product
to be delivered. Revenue is recognized as product is delivered and the deferred revenue is reduced.
Revenue recognized for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 that was included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the year was
$0. The deferred revenue balance at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 was $4,030 and $0, respectively, and classified as a current liability in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Performance Obligations
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of account in accordance with
ASC 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. Generally, the Company’s contracts include a single performance obligation that is separately identifiable, and therefore, distinct.
Under ASC 606, the allocation of transaction price is not necessary if only one performance obligation is identified. The Company expects to recognize
approximately 14% of this remaining performance obligation as revenue throughout the remainder of 2018 and expects to recognize the remaining 86% as
revenue by 2022.
Revenue from sand sales are recognized at a point in time, either upon shipment or upon delivery, and accounted for 70% and 56% of the Company’s
revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and for 71% and 59% of the Company’s revenue for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Revenue from railcar usage and transportation is recognized at a point in time, upon shipment, and accounted for
27% and 41% of revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and for 27% and 39% of revenue for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Significant Judgments
Accounting for long-term contracts involves the use of various techniques to estimate total contract revenue, costs and satisfaction of performance
obligation. The Company satisfies its performance obligation and subsequently recognizes revenue, at a point in time, upon shipment of the products as the
customer obtains control over the goods once the sand is loaded into the railcars or sand is delivered to the customer’s destination. In the case of sand being
delivered to customers, the transaction price is variable in nature and is directly tied to the Average Cushing Oklahoma WTI Spot Prices per barrel. There
were no changes to the significant judgments used by the Company to determine the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation under ASC 606.
Costs to Obtain or Fulfill Contracts
The Company’s costs to fulfill or obtain contracts with customers primarily consist of commissions and legal costs. Under take-or-pay contracts, the
Company provides sales team members with commissions at set per ton prices. These commissions are paid on a monthly basis, when and if the sand is taken
by the customer. Although sales commissions are incremental in nature and are only incurred when a contract is obtained, there is no up-front commission
paid on the satisfactory obtainment of a contract, resulting in no sales commissions being capitalized at September 30, 2018. The Company also incurs legal
costs relating to the drafting and negotiating of contracts with select customers. Because legal costs are not incremental in nature and
9

SMART SAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)

are incurred regardless of whether a contract is ultimately obtained, there were no legal costs capitalized as of September 30, 2018. As a result, the Company
did not record amortization of costs incurred to obtain the contract or any impairment losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Accounts Receivable and Unbilled Receivables
Accounts receivable represents customer transactions that have been invoiced as of the balance sheet date; unbilled receivables represent customer
transactions that have not yet been invoiced as of the balance sheet date. Accounts receivable are due within 30 days from the date of invoice, or in
accordance with terms agreed upon with customers, and are stated at amounts due from customers net of any allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company
considers accounts outstanding longer than the payment terms are past due. The Company determines the allowance by considering a number of factors,
including the length of time trade accounts receivable are past due, previous loss history, the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation, and the
condition of the general economy and the industry as a whole. Accounts receivable are written off when they are deemed uncollectible, and payments
subsequently received on such receivables are credited to bad debt expense. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company determined no
allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, no portion of unbilled revenue represents transactions
included in deferred revenue.
Transportation
Transportation costs are classified as cost of goods sold. Transportation costs consist of railway transportation and transload costs to deliver products to
customers. Cost of sales generated from transportation was $23,128 and $15,390 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Cost
of sales generated from transportation was $53,611 and $33,544 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Inventories
The Company’s sand inventory consists of raw material (sand that has been excavated but not processed), work-in-progress (sand that has undergone
some but not all processing) and finished goods (sand that has been completely processed and is ready for sale). Costs applied to sand inventory include
direct excavation costs, processing costs, overhead allocation, depreciation and depletion, transportation and additional service costs, as applicable.
Stockpile tonnages are calculated by measuring the number of tons added and removed from the stockpile. Costs are calculated on a per ton basis and are
applied to the stockpiles based on the number of tons in the stockpile. The Company performs monthly physical inventory measurements to verify the
quantity of sand inventory on hand. Due to variation in sand density and moisture content and production processes utilized to manufacture the Company’s
products, physical inventories will not necessarily detect all variances. To mitigate this risk, the Company recognizes a yield adjustment on its inventories.
Sand inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the average cost method. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, the Company had no write-down of sand inventory as a result of any lower of cost or net realizable value assessment.
The spare parts inventory consists of critical spare parts. Spare parts inventory is accounted for on a first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost or net
realizable value.
Deferred Financing Charges
Direct costs incurred in connection with the Credit Facility (as defined in Note 11) have been capitalized and are being amortized using the straight-line
method, which approximates the effective interest method, over the term of the debt. Fees attributable to the lender and third parties of $1,372 were presented
as components of deferred financing charges since there was no outstanding balance on the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2017. As of September 30,
2018, fees attributable to the lender of $728 are presented as a discount to the carrying value of the debt and the unamortized amount is presented as a
reduction of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets.
Amortization expense of the deferred financing charges of $85 and $116 is included in interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Amortization expense of the deferred financing charges of $223 and $339 is included in interest expense for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Accretion of debt discount of $65 and $0 is included in interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Accretion of debt discount of $181 and $0 is included in interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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SMART SAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
(UNAUDITED)

Financial Instruments
The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
expenses, approximates their fair value due to the short maturity of such instruments. Financial instruments also consist of debt for which fair value
approximates carrying values as the debt bears interest at a variable rate which is reflective of current rates otherwise available to the Company. Unless
otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial
instruments.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Costs related to researching, surveying, drilling, and related activities are recorded at cost and
capitalized once a determination has been made that the Company’s property has proven and probable reserves. Capitalized mining costs are depleted using
the units-of-production method. Construction in progress is primarily comprised of machinery and equipment which has not been placed in service and is not
depreciated until the related assets or improvements are ready to be placed in service. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, which are:
Years

Land improvements

10
5-15
10-40
30
3-5
3-15
5-15
3-10
3

Plant and buildings
Real estate properties
Railroad and sidings
Vehicles
Machinery, equipment and tooling
Wellsite storage solutions
Furniture and fixtures
Deferred stripping costs

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged against income as incurred; betterments that increase the value or materially extend the life of the
related assets are capitalized. Upon sale or disposition of property and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated income statements.
Acquisitions
The Company determines whether a transaction or other event is a business combination, which requires that the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
constitute a business. Each business combination is then accounted for by applying the acquisition method. If the assets acquired are not a business, the
Company accounts for the transaction or other event as an asset acquisition. Under both methods, the Company recognizes the identifiable assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, contingent considerations and any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity. In addition, for transactions that are business
combinations, the Company evaluates the existence of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. The Company capitalizes acquisition-related costs and
fees associated with asset acquisitions and expenses acquisition-related costs and fees associated with business combinations in the period in which they are
incurred.
Long-Lived Assets, Including Definite-Lived Intangible Assets
Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangibles, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows derived from such assets.
Definite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of developed technology and customer relationships. For long-lived assets used in operations, impairment
losses are only recorded if the asset’s carrying amount is not recoverable through its undiscounted, probability-weighted future cash flows. The Company
measures the impairment loss based on the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value. When an impairment exists, the related assets
are written down to fair value.
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Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
The Company conducts its evaluation of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets at the reporting unit level on an annual basis as of
December 31 and more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Prior to performing an
impairment test, the Company assesses qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the qualitative assessment determines that an impairment is more
likely than not, the Company performs a quantitative comparison of the fair value with the carrying amount, including goodwill. If this comparison reflects
impairment, then the loss would be measured as the excess of recorded goodwill, or other intangible assets with indefinite lives, over its implied fair value.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company has categorized its assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis into a three-level fair value
hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last unobservable, which are as follows:
•

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access
at the measurement date;

•

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or other inputs corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and

•

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions that market participants would use in pricing assets or liabilities
based on the best information available.

Contingent Consideration
The Company’s contingent consideration is measured at fair value on a recurring basis and is comprised of payments for production of silos and related
equipment during the three-year period after the Quickthree acquisition (Note 4). Contingent liabilities are valued using significant inputs that are not
observable in the market, which are defined as Level 3 inputs according to fair value measurement accounting. The Company used a probability-weighted
average between 9 and 63 manufactured fleets over the earnout period, as the basis of its fair value determination. The actual contingent consideration could
vary from the determined amount based on the actual number of silos and related equipment produced and the timing thereof. The Company estimates the
fair value of contingent liabilities using a Monte Carlo simulation-based, real option pricing methodology implementation of the Income Approach. This
approach utilizes inputs including market comparable information and management assessments regarding potential future scenarios, then discounts the
liabilities to present value. The Company believes its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, however, there is significant judgment involved.
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments carried at fair value were as follows:
September 30, 2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Contingent consideration

$

7,100

$

—

$

—

$

7,100

Total liabilities

$

7,100

$

—

$

—

$

7,100

The following table provides a summary of changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial instruments for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018:
Balance as of January 1, 2018
Contingent consideration pursuant to acquisition
Payment of contingent consideration
Unrealized gain

$

—
9,200
—
(2,100)

Balance as of September 30, 2018

$

7,100
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Stock-Based Compensation
The Company issues restricted stock to certain employees and members of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) for their services on the
Board. The Company estimates the grant date fair value of each share of restricted stock at issuance. For awards subject to service-based vesting conditions,
the Company recognizes, in the consolidated income statements, stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, equal to the grant date fair
value of the award on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting term. For awards subject to both performance and
service-based vesting conditions, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense using the straight-line recognition method when it is probable
that the performance condition will be achieved. Forfeitures are accounted for when they occur.
Share-based payments issued to non-employees are recorded at their fair values, and are periodically revalued as the equity instruments vest and are
recognized as expense, in the consolidated income statements, over the related service period. Once the Company’s shares became publicly traded on
November 4, 2016, the Company began to use the actual market price of its shares as the grant date fair value for restricted stock awards.
Income Taxes
On December 22, 2017, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Reform Act”) was signed into law. As a result of the Tax Reform Act, the Company
recorded a tax benefit of approximately $8,500 due to a re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the fourth quarter of 2017. The Company has
finalized the accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Reform Act.
The Company applies the provisions of ASC 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”), which principally utilizes a balance sheet approach to provide for
income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of net operating loss
carryforwards and temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.
ASC 740 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. The impact of an uncertain income
tax position on the income tax returns must be recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be required to be recognized upon audit by
the relevant taxing authority. This standard also provides guidance on de-recognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting for
interim periods, disclosure and transition issues with respect to tax positions. The Company includes interest and penalties as a component of income tax
expense in the consolidated income statements. For the periods presented, no interest and penalties were recorded.
Environmental Matters
The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. Management has
established procedures for the ongoing evaluation of the Company’s operations, to identify potential environmental exposures and to comply with
regulatory policies and procedures. Environmental expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that
relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and do not contribute to current or future revenue generation are expensed as incurred. Liabilities
are recorded when environmental costs are probable, and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The Company maintains insurance which may cover in whole
or in part certain environmental expenditures. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, there were no probable environmental matters.
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Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income represents foreign currency translation adjustments. The following table presents the changes in accumulated other
comprehensive income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Beginning balance
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Amounts reclassed from accumulated other comprehensive income

$

76
(130)
—

$

—
(54)
—

Ending balance

$

(54)

$

(54)

Segment Information
Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the
chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in making decisions on how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s chief
operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer. The Company and the Chief Executive Officer view the Company’s operations and manage its
business, including the recently acquired logistics assets and wellsite storage solutions business, as one operating segment. Substantially all long-lived assets
of the Company reside in the United States.
Basic and Diluted Net Income Per Share of Common Stock
Basic net income per share of common stock is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period, excluding the dilutive effects of restricted stock. Diluted net income per share of common stock is
computed by dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the sum of the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period plus the potential dilutive effects of restricted stock outstanding during the period calculated in accordance with the treasury
stock method, although restricted stock is excluded if their effect is anti-dilutive. The number of shares underlying equity-based awards that were excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would be anti-dilutive was 1,022 and 451 for each of the three months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively. The number of shares underlying equity-based awards that were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as
their effect would be anti-dilutive was 646 and 252 for each of the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The following table
reconciles the weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the calculation of basic net income per share to the weighted average common shares
outstanding used in the calculation of diluted net income per share:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Weighted average common shares outstanding
Assumed conversion of restricted stock
Diluted weighted average common stock outstanding

2017

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018

2017

40,541
10

40,384
32

40,483
65

40,145
112

40,551

40,416

40,548

40,257

Reclassification
Certain 2017 balance sheet items have been reclassified to conform to the current financial statement presentation. These reclassifications have no effect
on previous reported net income.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805) Clarifying the
Definition of a Business” (“ASU 2017-01”), which clarifies the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with
evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The definition of a business affects many areas
of accounting including acquisitions,
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disposals, goodwill, and consolidation. ASU 2017-01 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within
those periods. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position, results of operation or cash flows.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments”
(“ASU 2016-15”), which eliminates the diversity in practice related to the classification of certain cash receipts and payments for debt prepayment or
extinguishment costs, the maturing of a zero-coupon bond, the settlement of contingent liabilities arising from a business combination, proceeds from
insurance settlements, distributions from certain equity method investees and beneficial interests obtained in a financial asset securitization. ASU 2016-15
designates the appropriate cash flow classification, including requirements to allocate certain components of these cash receipts and payments among
operating, investing and financing activities. The guidance is effective for the Company beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company adopted this
guidance effective January 1, 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operation or
cash flows.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2014-09”). The objective of ASU 2014-09 is to establish
a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and will supersede most of the existing
revenue recognition guidance, including industry specific guidance. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. In applying the new guidance, an entity will: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in
the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the contract’s performance obligations; and (5) recognize revenue when
(or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 applies to all contracts with customers except those that are within the scope of other topics
in the FASB ASC. In April and May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Identifying Performance Obligations
and Licensing”, ASU 2016-11, “Revenue Recognition and Derivatives and Hedging - Recession of SEC Guidance”, ASU 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers - Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients”, and ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. These ASUs each affect the guidance of the new revenue recognition standard in ASU 2014-09 and related
subsequent ASUs. The new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods (including interim periods within those periods) beginning after December 15,
2017 for public companies. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2018.
Not yet adopted
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820)” (“ASU 2018-13”), which modifies disclosure requirements for
fair value measurements by removing the disclosure of the valuation process for Level 3 fair value measurements, among other disclosure modifications. The
guidance is effective for the Company beginning after December 15, 2019, although early adoption is permitted. Companies are permitted to remove or
modify disclosures upon issuance while delaying adoption of the additional disclosures. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of ASU 2018-13 on
its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12 “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities”
(“ASU 2017-12”), which eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the
fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. The guidance also eases certain documentation and
assessment requirements and modifies the accounting for components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. The guidance is effective for the
Company beginning after December 15, 2018, although early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of ASU 2017-12 on its
consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which replaces the existing guidance in ASC 840, “Leases.”
ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as lease liabilities with corresponding right of use assets. The new lease
standard does not substantially change lessor accounting. The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company intends to adopt ASU 2016-02 and its related updates using the transition practical expedients, which
allows the Company to use the existing lease population, classification and determination of initial direct costs when calculating the lease liability and right
of use asset balances. The Company also intends to implement ASU 2016-02 using the optional transition method, which allows the Company to initially
apply the new standard at the adoption date and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. The Company has
implemented new accounting
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software to facilitate the recording and reporting of lease transactions and balances. While the Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact of the
adoption of ASU 2016-02 and its related updates on its consolidated financial statements, it expects to record material right of use assets and related
liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet and add significant new disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, but it does not expect there to be a
material impact on the other consolidated financial statements. However, the full effect of ASU 2016-02 cannot be determined until the end of 2018, as it will
be affected by contracts executed through the remainder of the year.
4. Acquisitions
Asset Acquisition - Van Hook Crude, LLC
The acquisition of the assets of Van Hook Crude, LLC occurred on March 15, 2018. The Company acquired all of the rights, title, and interest in certain
properties and assigned contracts (collectively, the “Assets”) for a total consideration of $15,549 in cash.
The acquisition cost has been allocated over the assets as set forth below.
Machinery, equipment and tooling
Plant and building
Railroad and sidings
Land improvements
Total assets acquired

$

1,478
1,407
9,926
2,738

$

15,549

Business Combination - Quickthree Solutions Inc.
On June 1, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Quickthree Solutions, Inc., a manufacturer of portable vertical frac sand storage
solution systems.
The aggregate purchase price consisted of approximately $30,000 cash paid at closing, subject to adjustment based upon Quickthree’s closing date
working capital, and up to $12,750 in potential earn-out payments over a three-year period after closing. Payment of the earn-out is based upon the
production of silos and related equipment during the earn-out period. The closing portion of the purchase price was paid using cash on hand and advances
under the Company’s Credit Facility. The Company expects the earn-out portion of the purchase price to be paid using cash on hand, equipment financing
options available to the Company and advances under the Company’s Credit Facility. Goodwill in this transaction is attributable to planned expansion into
the wellsite storage solutions market, and is fully deductible for tax purposes.
The table below presents the calculation of the total purchase consideration:
Base price - cash
Contingent consideration – earnout
Working capital adjustment

$

30,000
9,200
(122)

Total purchase consideration

$

39,078
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The Company’s allocation of the purchase price in connection with the acquisition was calculated as follows.
Fair Value

Assets Acquired
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment
Customer relationships
Developed technology
Trade name
Goodwill
Other assets

Useful Life (in years)

$

112
1,700
126

$

1,938
740
270
18,800
900
16,935
225

Total non-current assets acquired

1 year
13 years
Indefinite

37,870

Total assets acquired

$

39,808

Liabilities Assumed
Accounts payable
Accrued and other expenses

$

331
399

$

39,078

Total liabilities assumed

730

Estimated fair value of net assets acquired

Total acquisition costs for the Quickthree Solutions acquisition incurred during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $0 and
$1,159, respectively, which are included in selling, general and administrative expense on the Company’s condensed consolidated income statements.
During the quarter ended September 30, 2018, there were no changes to the allocation of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.
The Company determined the fair value of the contingent consideration to be $9,200 at June 1, 2018, the acquisition date and recorded it as a liability in
the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets. Each reporting period, the Company reassesses its inputs including market comparable
information and management assessments regarding potential future scenarios, then discounts the liabilities to present value. For the three months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company recorded an unrealized gain on contingent consideration in the amount of $2,100 on the condensed consolidated income
statements, related the change in fair value of contingent consideration. The Company will continue to reassess earn-out calculations related to the
contingent consideration in future periods.
5. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid money market instruments to be cash equivalents. Cash is maintained at financial institutions and, at times,
balances may exceed federally insured limits of $250 at each financial institution. The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash represents cash held as collateral relating to an outstanding short-term bond assuring performance under an agreement with a pipeline
common carrier. As of April 13, 2018, the Company no longer had any restrictions on cash.
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6. Inventories
Sand inventories consisted of the following:
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

Raw material

$

$

Work in progress
Finished goods
Spare parts
Total sand inventory

153
8,927
3,582
1,649

298
7,825
832
577

$

14,311

$

9,532

Wellsite storage solutions inventory represents work in progress inventory related to existing arrangements at the time the Company acquired Quickthree and
consisted of the following:
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

Work in progress

$

2,091

$

—

Total wellsite storage solutions inventory

$

2,091

$

—

Total inventory

$

16,402

$

9,532

7. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets were comprised of the following:
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

Prepaid insurance

$

$

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid income taxes
Rail rebate receivables
Other receivables
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

103
1,914
1,750
477
623

551
1,112
1,382
776
28

$

4,867

$

3,849
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Net property, plant and equipment consisted of:
September 30, 2018

Machinery, equipment and tooling

$

Wellsite storage solutions
Vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Plant and building
Real estate properties
Railroad and sidings
Land and land improvements
Asset retirement obligation
Mineral properties
Deferred mining costs
Construction in progress

11,179
307
1,735
837
147,642
4,441
25,691
24,981
10,484
10,074
782
32,363

December 31, 2017

$

270,516
37,335

Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion
Total property, plant and equipment, net

$

233,181

7,802
—
1,546
720
81,561
4,432
10,254
16,378
8,408
9,878
657
56,493
198,129
26,367

$

171,762

Depreciation expense was $4,608 and $1,744 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $11,751 and $5,094 for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Depletion expense was $31 and $12 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively, and $51 and $22 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The Company capitalized no interest expense associated with the construction of new property, plant and equipment for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.
9. Intangible Assets, Net and Goodwill
The following table summarizes the Company’s intangible assets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
Estimated Useful Life
(Years)

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Trade name

Gross Carrying Amount
at December 31, 2017

Assets Acquired Pursuant
to Business Combination

Accumulated Amortization

Net Book Value at
September 30, 2018

13 $
1
Indefinite

—
—
—

$

18,800
270
900

$

482
90
—

$

18,318
180
900

$

—

$

19,970

$

572

$

19,398

The Company uses the straight-line method to determine the amortization expense for its definite lived intangible assets. The weighted-average
remaining useful life for the intangible assets is 12.5 years. Amortization expense related to the purchased intangible assets was $289 and $572 for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.
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The table below reflects the future estimated amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets as of September 30, 2018.
Twelve Month Period Ending September 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

1,626
1,446
1,446
1,446
1,446
11,088

$

18,498

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over the fair market value of identifiable net assets at the dates of acquisition. The following
table summarizes the Company’s goodwill as of September 30, 2018:
Total Goodwill

Balance at January 1, 2018
Goodwill attributable to Quickthree Solutions, Inc. acquisition

$

—
16,935

Balance at September 30, 2018

$

16,935

10. Accrued and Other Expenses
Accrued and other expenses were comprised of the following:
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

Employee related expenses

$

2,599
5,299
43
430
1,497
2,849
731
329
223
134
750
1,510

$

Accrued construction related expenses
Accrued legal expenses
Accrued professional fees
Accrued royalties
Accrued freight and delivery charges
Accrued real estate tax
Accrued utilities
Accrued interest
Sales tax liability
Deferred rent
Other accrued liabilities
Total accrued liabilities

667
2,197
90
529
206
2,197
—
176
—
19
861
634

$

16,394

$

7,576

11. Credit Facility
On December 8, 2016, the Company entered into a $45,000 three-year senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) under a revolving
credit agreement with Jefferies Finance LLC as administrative and collateral agent (the “Credit Agreement”). Substantially all of the assets of the Company
are pledged as collateral under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility expires on December 8, 2019. On April 8, 2018, the Credit Facility was amended to
increase the Company’s total borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility to $60,000. The amendment was considered a modification of the Credit Facility.
On July 13, 2018, the Credit Facility was amended to (i) increase the limit on the Company’s ability to sell, transfer or dispose of assets, subject to certain
considerations, from an aggregate amount of $25,000 to $55,000, (ii) increase the limit on the Company’s ability to incur capital lease obligations from an
aggregate principal amount of $15,000 to $30,000 and (iii) exclude certain current and future earn-out obligations from the definition of indebtedness in the
Credit Agreement.
The Credit Facility contains various reporting requirements, negative covenants and restrictive provisions and requires maintenance of financial
covenants, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, $44,500 and $0, respectively, were outstanding under the Credit
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Facility and the Company was in compliance with all covenants. As of September 30, 2018, the total undrawn availability was $15,500.
As of September 30, 2018, fees attributable to the lender of $728 are presented as a discount to the carrying value of the debt and the unamortized
amount is presented as a reduction of long-term debt on the balance sheet.
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

Revolving credit facility
Less: Debt discount, net

$

44,500
(310)

$

—
—

Revolving credit facility, net

$

44,190

$

—

12. Equipment Lease Obligations
The Company entered into various lease arrangements to lease equipment. Equipment cost of $50 has been capitalized and included in the Company’s
property, plant and equipment as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Depreciation expense under lease assets was approximately $3
and $73 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Depreciation expense under lease assets was approximately $113 and $219
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
As of September 30, 2018, the remaining minimum lease payment for equipment lease obligations is $8, which is due within one year.
13. Asset Retirement Obligation
The Company had a post-closure reclamation and site restoration obligation of $8,654 as of September 30, 2018. The following is a reconciliation of the
total reclamation liability for asset retirement obligations:
Balance at December 31, 2017
Additions and revisions of prior estimates
Accretion expense
Settlement of liability

$

8,982
1,561
330
(2,219)

Balance at September 30, 2018

$

8,654

14. Stock-Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plan
In May 2012, the Board approved the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (“2012 Plan”), which provides for the issuance of equity awards of up to a maximum
of 440 shares of the Company’s common stock to employees, non-employee members of the Board, and consultants of the Company. During 2014, the 2012
Plan was amended to provide for the issuance of equity awards of up to 880 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards can be issued in the form of
incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options or restricted stock, and have expiration dates of 5 or 10 years after issuance, depending on whether the
recipient already holds above 10% of the voting power of all classes of the Company’s shares. The exercise price will be based on the fair market value of the
share on the date of issuance; vesting periods will be determined by the board upon issuance of the equity award. Subsequent to the Company’s initial public
offering, no additional equity awards were made under the 2012 Plan.
In November 2016, in connection with its initial public offering, the Company adopted the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2016 Plan”) which provides
for the issuance of equity awards of up to a maximum of 3,911 shares of the Company’s common stock to employees, non-employee members of the board
and consultants of the Company. Together the 2012 Plan and the 2016 Plan are referenced to as the “Plans”.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, 742 and 353 shares of restricted stock were issued under the Plans, respectively. The grant
date fair value per share of all the outstanding restricted stock was $3.03 - $19.00. The shares vest over one to five years from their respective grant dates. For
equity awards issued under the 2016 Plan, the grant date fair value was either the actual market price of the Company’s shares or an adjusted price using a
Monte Carlo simulation for awards subject to the Company’s performance as compared to a defined peer group. For equity awards issued under the 2012
Plan, the
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grant date fair value was calculated based on a weighted analysis of (i) publicly-traded companies in a similar line of business to the Company (market
comparable method)—Level 2 inputs, and (ii) discounted cash flows of the Company—Level 3 inputs. The Company recognized, in operating expenses on
the consolidated income statements, $873 and $618 of compensation expense for the restricted stock during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively. The Company recognized, in operating expenses on the consolidated income statements, $2,133 and $1,378 of compensation expense for
the restricted stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At September 30, 2018, the Company had unrecognized
compensation expense of $6,040 related to granted but unvested stock awards, which is to be recognized as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022

$

2,900
1,980
891
269

$

6,040

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity under the Plans from December 31, 2017 through September 30, 2018:
Number of
Shares

Unvested, December 31, 2017

Weighted
Average

534
742
(177)
(37)

Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested, September 30, 2018

1,062

$
$
$
$

11.27
6.61
(12.15)
(12.64)

$

9.86

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased by eligible employees under the Company’s 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan in sixmonth intervals at a purchase price equal to at least 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on either the first day or the
last day of each six-month offering period. Employee purchases may not exceed 20% of their gross compensation during an offering period.
15. Income Taxes
The Company calculates its interim income tax provision by estimating the annual expected effective tax rate and applying that rate to its ordinary year
to date earnings or loss. In addition, the effect of changes in enacted tax laws, rates or tax status is recognized in the interim period in which the change
occurs.
For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective tax rate was approximately 27.6% and 19.3%, respectively, based on the annual
effective tax rate net of discrete federal and state taxes. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the effective tax rate was approximately
23.9% and 24.0%, respectively, based on the annual effective tax rate net of discrete federal and state taxes. The Company’s effective tax rate for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2018 benefited from the decrease in the U.S. statutory tax rate from 35.0% in the prior year to 21.0% in the current
period as a result of the Tax Reform Act that was enacted on December 22, 2017. The computation of the effective tax rate includes modifications from the
statutory rate such as income tax credits, among other items. The difference in the effective tax rate relative to the statutory rate was primarily due to the
change in the forecasted pretax income between quarters relative to the projected modifications to the tax rate during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and a benefit related to the domestic production activities deduction and stock-based compensation during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2017. For the year of 2018, the Company will record a net operating loss for tax purposes due to the significant amount of capital
expenditures, which are eligible for 100% expensing available under the Tax Reform Act.
In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considered whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the period in
which those temporary differences become deductible. At September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, based on the Company’s future income projections,
management determined it was more
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likely than not that the Company will be able to realize the benefits of the deductible temporary differences. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, the Company determined no valuation allowance was necessary.
The Company has evaluated its tax positions taken as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and believes all positions taken would be upheld
under examination from income taxing authorities. Therefore, no liability for the effects of uncertain tax positions has been recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Company is open to examination by taxing authorities since
incorporation.
16. Concentrations
As of September 30, 2018, three customers accounted for 74% of the Company’s total accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2017, three customers
accounted for 49% of the Company’s total accounts receivable.
During the three months ended September 30, 2018, 82% of the Company’s revenues were earned from five customers. During the three months ended
September 30, 2017, 64% of the Company’s revenues were earned from three customers. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, 55% of the
Company’s revenues were earned from three customers. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, 74% of the Company’s revenues were earned
from four customers.
As of September 30, 2018, one vendor accounted for 18% of the Company’s accounts payable. As of December 31, 2017, two vendors accounted for
28% of the Company’s accounts payable.
During the three months ended September 30, 2018, three suppliers accounted for 58% of the Company’s cost of goods sold. During the three months
ended September 30, 2017, one supplier accounted for 56% of the Company’s cost of goods sold. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, two
suppliers accounted for 44% of the Company’s cost of goods sold. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, one supplier accounted for 53% of the
Company’s cost of goods sold.
Currently, the Company’s inventory and operations are primarily located in Wisconsin. There is a risk of loss if there are significant environmental, legal
or economic changes to this geographic area. The Company currently primarily utilizes one third-party rail company to ship its products to customers from its
plant. There is a risk of business loss if there are significant impacts to this third party’s operations.
17. Related Party Transactions
The Company reimbursed Clearlake Capital Partners II (Master), L.P. $5 and $0 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
and $28 and $39 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for certain out of pocket and other expenses in connection with
certain management and administrative support services provided.
18. Commitments and Contingencies
Future Minimum Commitments
The Company is obligated under certain operating leases, minimum royalty payments for our leased properties in West Texas, and rental agreements
for railcars, office space, and other equipment. Future minimum annual commitments under such operating leases at September 30, 2018 are as follows:
Twelve Month Period Ending September 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

17,382
11,818
9,937
6,447
4,430
36,075

$

86,089

Expense related to operating leases and rental agreements was $3,965 and $2,677 for three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Expense related to operating leases and rental agreements was $10,658 and $6,744 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Lease expense related to railcars is included in cost of goods sold in the condensed consolidated income statements.
Litigation
The Company is periodically involved in litigation and claims incidental to its operation. Management believes that any pending litigation will not
have a material impact to the Company’s financial position.
Required Capital
As of September 30, 2018, the Company has commitments related to its Oakdale facility, wellsite storage solutions systems and other
expansion projects of approximately $23,000.
Consulting Agreements
On August 1, 2010, the Company entered into a consulting agreement related to the purchase of land with a third party. The third party acted as an agent
for the Company to obtain options to purchase certain identified real property in Wisconsin, as well as obtain permits and approvals necessary to open,
construct and operate a sand mining and processing facility on such real property. The third party’s compensation, which continues indefinitely, consists of
reimbursement of certain expenses and $1,000 per each acre purchased as a closing fee. For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Company incurred no closing costs and expense reimbursements. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred $60 and
$19 of closing costs and expense reimbursements, respectively.
The closing costs have been capitalized in property and equipment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets when they relate to the acquisition
of land.
In addition to the aforementioned fees, the third-party agreement provides for tonnage fees based upon mining operations. The payment of $0.50 per
sold ton of certain grades of sand that have been mined and sold from the properties acquired under the consulting agreement continues indefinitely. The
minimum annual tonnage fee is $200 per contract year, which runs from August 1 to July 31. During the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
the Company incurred $225 and $133 related to tonnage fees, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company
incurred $593 and $362 related to tonnage fees, respectively. These costs are presented as operating expenses in the condensed consolidated income
statement.
Bonds
The Company entered into a performance bond with Jackson County, Wisconsin and Monroe County, Wisconsin for $4,400 and $900, respectively. The
Company provided a performance bond to assure performance under the reclamation plan filed with each respective county. The Company entered into
permit bonds amounting to $1,350 with certain towns and counties in which it operates to use designated town and county roadways. The Company
provided these permit bonds to assure maintenance and restoration of the roadways. The Company has an outstanding $1,943 bond to assure performance
under its agreement with a pipeline common carrier. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, $0 and $487, respectively, of cash is being held as
collateral related to the bond and is presented as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. As of April 13, 2018, the Company no longer had any
restrictions on cash.
19. Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated events and transactions subsequent to the balance sheet date and through the date the condensed consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued. Based on this evaluation, the Company is not aware of any other events or transactions that occurred subsequent to
September 30, 2018 that would require recognition or disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis summarizes the significant factors affecting the consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity and
cash flows of our company as of and for the periods presented below. The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related information contained herein and our audited financial statements as of December 31,
2017. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on the beliefs of our management, as well as assumptions made by, and
information currently available to our management. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by forward-looking statements
as a result of various factors, including those discussed herein and in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-Q and our Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017. We use EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and contribution margin herein as non-GAAP measures of our financial performance. For
further discussion of EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and contribution margin, see sections entitled “EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA” and “Contribution
Margin.” We define various terms to simplify the presentation of information in this Report. References to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” are to
Smart Sand, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All share amounts are presented in thousands.
Overview
We are a fully integrated frac sand services Company, offering complete mine to wellsite solutions for our customers. We produce low-cost, high quality
Northern White raw frac sand and provide our customers with frac sand logistics solutions from the mine to the wellsite. Northern White raw frac sand is a
premium proppant used to enhance hydrocarbon recovery rates in the hydraulic fracturing of oil and natural gas wells. We also offer logistics solutions to our
customers through our in-basin transloading terminal and wellsite storage capabilities. We currently market our products and services primarily to oil and
natural gas exploration and production companies and oilfield service companies and sell our products under a combination of long-term take-or-pay
contracts and spot sales in the open market. We believe that the size and favorable geologic characteristics of our sand reserves, the strategic location and
logistical advantages of our facilities, our proprietary portable wellsite storage solutions and the industry experience of our senior management team have
positioned us as a highly attractive provider of raw frac sand from the mine to the wellsite.
We own and operate a raw frac sand mine and related processing facility near Oakdale, Wisconsin, at which we have approximately 321 million tons of
proven recoverable sand reserves as of December 31, 2017. We began operations with 1.1 million tons of annual nameplate processing capacity in July 2012.
After several expansions, our current wet and dry plant nameplate processing capacity at our Oakdale facility is approximately 5.5 million tons of raw frac
sand per year. Our integrated Oakdale facility, with onsite rail infrastructure and wet and dry sand processing facilities, has access to two Class I rail lines and
enables us to process and cost effectively deliver products to our customers.
Recent Developments
Wellsite Storage Solutions
On June 1, 2018, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Quickthree Solutions, Inc. (“Quickthree”), a manufacturer of portable vertical frac sand
storage systems that provide wellsite storage solutions. The consideration for the transaction consisted of approximately $30.0 million in cash, which was
paid at closing using cash on hand and advances under the Credit Facility (as defined below), and up to $12.8 million in potential earn-out payments, which
are to be paid as system components are built and made available for sale or lease over a three-year period. We believe that this acquisition provides us with
the technology, production capacity and management team to compete further in the logistics market and will provide us with an opportunity to expand our
customer base by being able to offer logistics services all the way to the wellsite.
Bakken Transload Terminal
On March 15, 2018, we acquired the rights to operate a unit train capable transloading terminal in Van Hook, North Dakota to service the Bakken
Formation. We paid consideration of approximately $15.5 million to acquire certain assets at the Van Hook terminal, and have entered into a long-term lease
agreement in connection with the transaction. As part of this transaction, we entered into a long-term agreement with Canadian Pacific Railway to service the
Van Hook terminal directly along with the other key oil and gas exploration and production basins of North America.
The Van Hook terminal became operational in April 2018. Since operations have commenced, we have been providing in-basin sand at this terminal to
our customers. We believe this new terminal provides us with an opportunity to expand our customer base and offer more efficient delivery options to
customers operating in the Williston Basin.
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Market Trends
From 2017 through the second quarter of 2018, improvements in oil and natural gas prices created a more stable market environment. During the third
quarter of 2018, the demand for Northern White sand decreased, which we believe was due primarily to reduced takeaway capacity and increased availability
of in-basin sand in the Permian basin and oil and natural gas companies reducing their spending in the latter portion of the year. Should these trends
continue, we anticipate that our spot sales will continue at decreased rates through the remainder of 2018, however, we do not expect contractual terms under
our long-term agreements to change materially for the remainder of 2018, although we may be subject to pricing pressures if overall pricing in the spot
market continues to decrease.
GAAP Results of Operations
The following table summarizes our revenue and expenses for the periods indicated.
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2017

2018

(in thousands)

Revenues
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Gain on contingent consideration
Total operating expenses
Operating income

$

63,146
40,595
22,551

Other income (expenses):
Interest expense, net
Other income
Total other expenses, net

$

160,222
110,686

$

94,176
67,360

49,536

26,816

3,232
501
3,512
(2,100)

1,838
148
2,275
—

8,595
1,165
10,208
(2,100)

5,702
377
6,592
—

5,145

4,261

17,868

12,671

17,406

8,771

31,668

14,145

(114)
76

(668)

12,125

(1,438)
149

(38)

16,738
4,613
$

39,329
26,297
13,032

(758)
90

Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income

$

2017
(in thousands)

(1,289)

8,733
1,686
$

7,047

(340)
197
(143)

30,379
7,258
$

23,121

14,002
3,354
$

10,648

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
Revenues
Revenues were $63.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, during which time we sold approximately 823,000 tons of sand. Revenues
for the three months ended September 30, 2017 were $39.3 million, during which time we sold approximately 653,000 tons of sand. Revenues increased for
the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017 as a result of higher sales volumes, including inbasin and spot sales, and higher average selling prices.
The key factors contributing to the increase in revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2017 were as follows:
•

Sand sales revenue increased to $44.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $22.2 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2017 due to increased sales volumes, including in-basin volumes, and higher average selling prices. Tons sold increased by
approximately 26% due to increased exploration and production activity in the oil and natural gas industry through the third quarter of 2018,
compared to the same period in 2017, despite reduced demand for spot sales in the later part of the three months ended September 30, 2018.

•

Average selling price per ton increased to $53.77 for the three months ended September 30, 2018 from $34.02 for the three months ended
September 30, 2017 due to increased volumes, including in-basin volumes, and higher selling
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prices related to both increased spot prices and favorable price adjustments under certain of our take-or-pay contracts based upon the Average
Cushing Oklahoma WTI Spot Prices.
•

We had $1.4 million contractual shortfall revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and $1.2 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2017. Our customer contracts dictate whether customers are invoiced quarterly or at the end of their respective contract year for
shortfall payments. We recognize revenue to the extent of the unfulfilled minimum contracted quantity at the shortfall price per ton as stated in the
contract once payment is received or reasonably assured.

•

Transportation revenue, which includes freight for certain mine gate sand sales and railcar usage, was approximately $17.0 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $15.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in transportation
revenue was due to increased sales volumes in the third quarter of 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017.
Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold was $40.6 million and $26.3 million, or $49.33 and $40.27 per ton sold, for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Cost of goods sold and per ton cost of goods sold increased for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in
2017 due to higher sales volumes, which led to increased staffing, utilities and equipment expenses, and increased freight charges. Freight charges, which
consist of transportation costs and railcar rental and storage expenses, were $25.4 million and $17.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The $7.8 million increase in freight costs was primarily due to increased tons sold and increased in-basin activities. Additionally, we
incurred $4.6 million and $1.9 million of operating labor costs for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The $2.7 million
increase in labor costs was primarily due to additional staffing to support the expanded operations at our Oakdale facility. Depreciation, depletion and
accretion of asset retirement obligation included in cost of goods sold were $4.6 million and $1.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively.
Gross Profit
Gross profit was $22.6 million and $13.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in gross profit for
the three months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to higher sales volumes, including in-basin sales, and higher average selling prices, partially
offset by increased staffing, utilities and equipment expenses, along with increased freight charges from higher production volumes.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses were $5.1 million and $4.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Operating expenses are
comprised primarily of wages and benefits, professional services fees and other administrative expenses. Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes were $3.2 million
and $1.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The $1.4 million increase was primarily due to higher headcount in
the third quarter of 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased from $2.3 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2017 to $3.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, primarily as a result of additional royalty payments for
land rights in Texas. We recorded an unrealized gain on contingent consideration in the amount of $2.1 million for the three months ended September 30,
2018, for our acquisition of Quickthree.
Interest Expense
We incurred $0.8 million and $0.1 million of net interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase
in interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to borrowings under the Credit Facility to fund acquisition activity.
Income Tax Expense
For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, our effective tax rate was approximately 27.6% and 19.3%, respectively, based on the annual
effective tax rate net of discrete federal and state taxes. Our effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2018 benefited from the decrease in
the U.S. statutory tax rate from 35.0% in the prior year to 21.0% in the current period as a result of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Reform Act”) that
was enacted on December 22, 2017. The computation of the effective tax rate includes modifications for income tax credits, among other items. The
computation for the three months ended September 30, 2017 also included a benefit related to share-based compensation and the domestic production
activities deduction, which was repealed for tax years beginning after January 1, 2018 under the Tax
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Reform Act. For the year of 2018, we will record a net operating loss for tax purposes due to the significant amount of capital expenditures, which are eligible
for 100% expensing available under the Tax Reform Act.
Net Income
Net income was $12.1 million and $7.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. The increase in net income for the three
months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in the prior year was primarily due to increased sales volumes and favorable pricing
trends, partially offset by increased operating expenses and interest expense.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Revenues
Revenues were $160.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, during which time we sold approximately 2,384,000 tons of sand.
Revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 were $94.2 million, during which time we sold approximately 1,743,000 tons of sand. Revenues
increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017 as a result of higher sales volumes,
including in-basin and spot sales, and higher average selling prices.
The key factors contributing to the increase in revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2017 were as follows:
•

Sand sales revenue increased to $113.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $55.8 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 due to increased sales volumes and higher average selling prices. Tons sold increased by approximately 37% due to
increased exploration and production activity in the oil and natural gas industry for the nine months of 2018, compared to the same period in 2017,
despite reduced demand for spot sales in the later part of the three months ended September 30, 2018.

•

Average selling price per ton increased to $47.66 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 from $32.02 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017 due to increased volumes, including in-basin volumes, and higher selling prices related to both increased spot prices and
favorable price adjustments under certain of our take-or-pay contracts based upon the Average Cushing Oklahoma WTI Spot Prices.

•

We had $2.1 million contractual shortfall revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and $1.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017, respectively. Our customer contracts dictate whether customers are invoiced quarterly or at the end of their respective contract
year for shortfall payments. We recognize revenue to the extent of the unfulfilled minimum contracted quantity at the shortfall price per ton as
stated in the contract once payment is received or reasonably assured.

•

Transportation revenue, which includes freight for certain mine gate sand sales and railcar usage, was approximately $44.1 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $37.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in transportation
revenue was due to the increased sales volumes in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017 as a result of
increased exploration and production activity in the oil and natural gas industry.
Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold was $110.7 million and $67.4 million, or $46.43 and $38.65 per ton sold, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Cost of goods sold and per ton cost of goods sold increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in
2017 due to higher sales volumes, which led to increased staffing, utilities and equipment expenses, and increased freight charges. Freight charges, which
consist of transportation costs and railcar rental and storage expense, were $62.5 million and $39.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The $22.8 million increase in freight costs was due primarily to increased tons sold and increased in-basin activities. Additionally, we
incurred $13.5 million and $6.1 million of operating labor costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The $7.5 million
increase in labor costs was due to additional staffing to support the expansion of the Oakdale facility and its operations. Depreciation, depletion and
accretion of asset retirement obligation included in cost of goods sold were $11.5 million and $4.8 million, respectively, for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017.
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Gross Profit
Gross profit was $49.5 million and $26.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in gross profit for
the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to higher sales volumes, including in-basin and spot sales, and higher average selling prices,
partially offset by increased staffing, utilities and equipment expenses, along with increased freight charges.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses were $17.9 million and $12.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Operating expenses are
primarily comprised of wages and benefits, professional services fees and other administrative expenses. Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes were $8.6 million
and $5.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The approximate $2.9 million increase was primarily due to
additional headcount and stock compensation grants in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017. Selling, general
and administrative expenses increased from $6.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 to $10.2 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, primarily as a result of acquisition-related costs and royalty payments relating to our Texas land leases. We recorded an unrealized gain
on contingent consideration in the amount of $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, for our acquisition of Quickthree.
Interest Expense
We incurred $1.4 million and $0.3 million of net interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase in
interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to borrowings under the Credit Facility to fund acquisition activity.
Income Tax Expense
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, our effective tax rate was approximately 23.9% and 24.0%, respectively, based on the
statutory federal rate net of discrete federal and state taxes. Our effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 benefited from the decrease
in the U.S. statutory tax rate from 35.0% in the prior year to 21.0% in the current period as a result of the Tax Reform Act that was enacted on December 22,
2017. The computation of the effective tax rate includes modifications for income tax credits, among other items. The computation for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017 also included a benefit related to share-based compensation and the domestic production activities deduction, which was repealed for
tax years beginning after January 1, 2018 under the Tax Reform Act. For the year of 2018, we will record a net operating loss for tax purposes due to the
significant amount of capital expenditures, which are eligible for 100% expensing available under the Tax Reform Act.
Net Income
Net income was $23.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to net income of $10.6 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017. The increase in net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in the prior year was
primarily due to the increased sales volumes and favorable pricing trends, partially offset by increased operating expenses and interest expense.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and contribution margin are not financial measures presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (“GAAP”). We believe that the presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures will provide useful information to investors in
assessing our financial condition and results of operations. Net income is the GAAP measure most directly comparable to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and
gross profit is the GAAP measure most directly comparable to contribution margin. Our non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as
alternatives to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. Each of these non-GAAP financial measures has important limitations as analytical
tools because they exclude some but not all items that affect the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. You should not consider EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA or contribution margin in isolation or as substitutes for an analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Because EBITDA, Adjusted
EBITDA and contribution margin may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definitions of these non-GAAP financial measures may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing their utility.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
We define EBITDA as net income, plus: (i) depreciation, depletion and amortization expense; (ii) income tax expense; (iii) interest expense; and (iv)
franchise taxes. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA, plus: (i) gain or loss on sale of fixed assets
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or discontinued operations; (ii) integration and transition costs associated with specified transactions; (iii) equity compensation; (iv) acquisition and
development costs; (v) non-recurring cash charges related to restructuring, retention and other similar actions; (vi) earn-out and contingent consideration
obligations; and (vii) non-cash charges and unusual or non-recurring charges. Adjusted EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measure by management
and by external users of our financial statements, such as investors and commercial banks, to assess:
•

the financial performance of our assets without regard to the impact of financing methods, capital structure or historical cost basis of our assets;

•

the viability of capital expenditure projects and the overall rates of return on alternative investment opportunities;

•

our ability to incur and service debt and fund capital expenditures;

•

our operating performance as compared to those of other companies in our industry without regard to the impact of financing methods or capital
structure; and

•

our debt covenant compliance, as Adjusted EBITDA is a key component of critical covenants to the Credit Facility.

We believe that our presentation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA will provide useful information to investors in assessing our financial condition and
results of operations. Net income is the GAAP measure most directly comparable to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should
not be considered alternatives to net income presented in accordance with GAAP. Because EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may be defined differently by
other companies in our industry, our definitions of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies,
thereby diminishing their utility. The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net income for each of the periods
indicated.
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2017

2018

(in thousands)

Net income
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Income tax expense
Interest expense
Franchise taxes
EBITDA
Loss on sale of fixed assets (1)
Integration and transition costs (2)
Equity compensation (3)
Acquisition and development costs (4)
Cash charges related to restructuring and retention (5)
Non-cash charges (6)
Adjusted EBITDA

2017
(in thousands)

$

12,125
4,929
4,612
760
54

$

7,047
1,756
1,686
172
70

$

23,121
12,374
7,258
1,489
383

$

10,648
5,116
3,354
526
308

$

22,480
253
—
791
(1,723)
198
139

$

10,731
30
16
516
79
239
20

$

44,625
253
—
1,950
(480)
562
328

$

19,952
187
16
1,157
79
239
61

$

22,138

$

11,631

$

47,238

$

21,691

(1)

Includes losses related to the sale and disposal of certain assets in property, plant and equipment.

(2)

Includes integration and transition costs associated with specified transactions.

(3)

Represents the non-cash expenses for stock-based awards issued to our employees and employee stock purchase plan compensation expense.

(4)

Represents costs incurred related to the business combinations and current development project activities. The three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 include $2.1 million of gain on contingent consideration, partially offset during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 by
$1.2 million of costs related to the acquisition of Quickthree.

(5)

Represents costs associated with the retention and relocation of employees.

Represents accretion of asset retirement obligations.
____________________

(6)
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Adjusted EBITDA was $22.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $11.6 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2017, and $47.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $21.7 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2017. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, as compared to the corresponding periods in the prior year,
was primarily due to higher volumes sold and higher average selling prices, partially offset by increased transportation and labor costs.
Contribution Margin
We also use contribution margin, which we define as total revenues less costs of goods sold excluding depreciation, depletion and accretion of asset
retirement obligations, to measure our financial and operating performance. Contribution margin excludes other operating expenses and income, including
costs not directly associated with the operations of our business such as accounting, human resources, information technology, legal, sales and other
administrative activities.
Historically, we have reported production costs and production cost per ton as non-GAAP financial measures. As we expand our logistics activities and
continue to sell sand closer to the wellhead, our sand production costs will only be a portion of our overall cost structure.
We believe that a transition to reporting contribution margin and contribution margin per ton sold will provide a better performance metric to
management and external users of our financial statements, such as investors and commercial banks, because these metrics provide an operating and financial
measure of our ability, as a combined business, to generate margin in excess of our operating cost base. As such, we believe that it is no longer relevant to
report production costs or production costs per ton on a standalone basis.
Gross profit is the GAAP measure most directly comparable to contribution margin. Contribution margin should not be considered an alternative to gross
profit presented in accordance with GAAP. Because contribution margin may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definition of
contribution margin may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing its utility. The following table presents a
reconciliation of contribution margin to gross profit.
Three Months Ended September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2017

2018

(in thousands)

Revenue
Cost of goods sold

$

63,146
40,595

Gross profit
Depreciation, depletion, and accretion of asset retirement obligations
Contribution margin
$

22,551
4,567

Contribution margin per ton

$

Total tons sold

$

2017
(in thousands)

39,329
26,297

$

160,222
110,686

13,032
1,628

$

94,176
67,360

49,536
11,539

26,816
4,799

27,118

$

14,660

$

61,075

$

31,615

32.95

$

22.45

$

25.62

$

18.14

823

653

2,384

1,743

Contribution margin was $27.1 million and $14.7 million, or $32.95 and $22.45 per ton sold, for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Contribution margin was $61.1 million and $31.6 million, or $25.62 and $18.14 per ton sold, for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The increase in contribution margin and contribution margin per ton sold for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 as
compared to the corresponding period in the prior year was primarily due to the increased sales volumes and favorable pricing trends, despite reduced
demand for spot sales in the later part of the three months ended September 30, 2018.
Working Capital
The following table presents the components of our working capital as of September 30, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017.
September 30,

December 31,

2018

2017
(in thousands)

Total current assets
Total current liabilities
Working capital
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$

53,545
31,230

$

73,177
34,559

$

22,315

$

38,618

Our working capital surplus was $22.3 million at September 30, 2018 compared to a working capital surplus of $38.6 million at December 31,
2017. The decrease in our working capital surplus was primarily due to capital expenditure projects in the first half of 2018, which resulted in additional
cash outflows, partially offset by increased collection of revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity are funds generated through operations and the Credit Facility.
Summary Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018

2017
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$
$
$

33,723
(111,553)
43,789

$
$
$

8,559
(27,568)
23,290

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $33.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared to $8.6 million provided by
operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Operating cash flows include net income of $23.1 million and $10.6 million in net
earnings generated from the sale of raw frac sand to our customers in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, offset by cost of
goods sold, general and administrative expenses and cash interest expense, adjusted for changes in working capital to the extent they are positive or
negative.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $111.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $27.6 million used in investing
activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The $84.0 million increase was primarily the result of an increase in capital expenditures related to
the expansion of our processing facilities in Oakdale, Wisconsin and our acquisitions of the Van Hook terminal and Quickthree.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $43.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, which consisted primarily of proceeds from
borrowings of $71.5 million under the Credit Facility in March and June 2018, offset by $27.0 million in payments of borrowings under the Credit Facility
and $0.5 million in payments on equipment financing obligations and notes payable.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $23.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, which included net proceeds from an equity
issuance of approximately $24.2 million, offset by $0.6 million in payments on our existing equipment financing obligations and notes payable and $0.2
million in deferred financing fees.
Credit Facility
On December 8, 2016, we entered into a $45 million 3-year senior secured revolving credit facility under a revolving credit agreement with Jefferies
Finance LLC as administrative and collateral agent (the “Credit Agreement”). This credit facility was amended: (i) on April 8, 2018, to increase our total
borrowing capacity to $60 million; and (ii) on July 13, 2018, to (A) increase the limit on our ability to sell, transfer or dispose of assets, subject to certain
considerations from an aggregate amount of $25 million to $55 million, (B) increase the limit on our ability to incur capital lease obligations from an
aggregate principal amount of $15 million to $30 million and (C) exclude certain current and future earn-out obligations from the definition of indebtedness
in the Credit Agreement. We refer to the revolving credit facility under the Credit Agreement, as amended in the manner set forth above, as the “Credit
Facility”.
Substantially all of our assets are pledged as collateral under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Facility expires on December 8, 2019. As of September
30, 2018, we had $15.5 million in total undrawn availability under the Credit Facility.
The Credit Facility contains various reporting requirements, negative covenants and restrictive provisions and requires maintenance of financial
covenants, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). As of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with all covenants.
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Capital Requirements
As of September 30, 2018, we had commitments related to certain expansion and replacement capital projects of approximately $23 million, including
approximately $9 million for the manufacture of wellsite storage solutions systems. We expect full year spending on capital projects to be approximately
$125 million to $135 million during 2018, excluding any additional acquisitions, which are anticipated to support incremental growth and efficiency
initiatives. These projects are expected to provide efficiencies in our plant operations and improve our logistics capabilities to further position us to
capitalize upon growth opportunities that we anticipate will continue to develop with both current and potential new customers. This amount also includes
the acquisition of Quickthree, for which we paid $30 million at closing. We expect to fund these expansion capital expenditures with cash from operations,
equipment financing options available to us, potential borrowings under the Credit Facility or through a refinancing of the existing Credit Facility.
Share Repurchases
The Company is authorized to repurchase up to 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock during the twelve month period following the
announcement of the share repurchase program. The share repurchases may occur from time to time through open market purchases at prevailing market
prices or through privately negotiated transactions as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The Company expects to fund these share
repurchases with cash from operations and potential borrowings under the credit facility. The program allows the Company to repurchase its shares at its
discretion. Market conditions, price, corporate and regulatory requirements, alternative investment opportunities, and other economic conditions will
influence the timing of the buyback and the number of shares repurchased. The program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number of
shares and, subject to compliance with applicable securities laws and other legal requirements, may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior
notice. There were no share repurchases during the three or nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Environmental Matters
We are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations governing, among other things, hazardous materials, air and water emissions,
environmental contamination and reclamation and the protection of the environment and natural resources. We have made, and expect to make in the future,
expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations, but cannot predict the full amount of such future expenditures.
Contractual Obligations
As of September 30, 2018, we had contractual obligations for the Credit Facility, equipment lease obligations, notes payable, operating leases, capital
expenditures and asset retirement obligations. Operating leases are primarily for railcars and operating equipment. As part of the acquisition of substantially
all of the assets of Quickthree on June 1, 2018, we recorded a $9.2 million contingent consideration liability related to certain earn-out provisions included
in the terms of the acquisition. Each reporting period, we reassess our inputs including market comparable information and management assessments
regarding potential future scenarios, then discount the liabilities to present value. For the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded an unrealized
gain in the amount of $2.1 million in selling, general and administrative expense on our condensed consolidated income statements, related to the change in
fair value of contingent consideration. This reduced our contingent consideration liability to $7.1 million as of September 30, 2018.
In the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we entered into certain long-term land leases for potential development in Texas.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had outstanding performance bonds of $8.6 million at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Seasonality
Our business is affected to some extent by seasonal fluctuations in weather that impact the production levels at our wet processing plant. While our dry
plants are able to process finished product volumes evenly throughout the year, our excavation and wet sand processing activities are limited during winter
months. As a consequence, historically we experience lower cash operating costs in the first and fourth quarter of each calendar year. We may also sell raw
frac sand for use in oil and natural gas producing basins where severe weather conditions may curtail drilling activities and, as a result, our sales volumes to
those areas may be reduced during such severe weather periods.
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Customer Concentration
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, sales to Rice Energy, Liberty and WPX Energy accounted for 21.9%, 20.5%, and 12.7%, respectively, of
total revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, sales to Rice Energy, Weatherford, Liberty and US Well Services accounted for 31.1%, 15.0%,
17.2% and 11.1%, respectively, of total revenue. The Weatherford contract has now been assigned to Schlumberger Technology Corp.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Except for the following, there have been no material changes in our critical accounting policies and procedures during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018.
Contingent Consideration
Our contingent consideration measured at fair value on a recurring basis is comprised of payments for production of silos and related equipment during
the three-year period after the Quickthree acquisition. Contingent liabilities are valued using significant inputs that are not observable in the market, which
are defined as Level 3 inputs according to fair value measurement accounting. We estimate the fair value of contingent liabilities using a Monte Carlo
simulation-based, real option pricing methodology implementation of the Income Approach. This approach utilizes inputs including market comparable
information and management assessments regarding potential future scenarios, then discount the liabilities to present value. We believe our estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, however, there is significant judgment involved.
For more information, please read our disclosure of critical accounting policies in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 15, 2018.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Report contains estimates and forward-looking statements, principally in “Part I. Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.” Our estimates and forward-looking statements are mainly based on our current expectations and estimates of future
events and trends, which affect or may affect our businesses and operations. Although we believe that these estimates and forward-looking statements are
based upon reasonable assumptions, they are subject to several risks and uncertainties and are made in light of information currently available to us.
Important factors, in addition to the factors described in this quarterly report, may adversely affect our results as indicated in forward-looking statements. You
should read this quarterly report and the documents that we have filed as exhibits hereto completely and with the understanding that our actual future results
may be materially different from what we expect. The words “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“predict,” “intend,” “potential,” “might,” “would,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology and similar words are intended
to identify estimates and forward-looking statements. Estimates and forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they were made, and, except to the
extent required by law, we undertake no obligation to update, to revise or to review any estimate and/or forward-looking statement because of new
information, future events or other factors. Estimates and forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and are not guarantees of future
performance. As a result of the risks and uncertainties described above, the estimates and forward-looking statements discussed in this quarterly report might
not occur and our future results, level of activity, performance or achievements may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking
statements due to, including, but not limited to, the factors mentioned above, and the differences may be material and adverse. Because of these uncertainties,
you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Historically, our risks have been predominantly related to potential
changes in the fair value of our long-term debt due to fluctuations in applicable market interest rates. Going forward our market risk exposure generally will
be limited to those risks that arise in the normal course of business, as we do not engage in speculative, non-operating transactions, nor do we utilize financial
instruments or derivative instruments for trading purposes.
Commodity Price Risk
The market for proppant is indirectly exposed to fluctuations in the prices of crude oil and natural gas to the extent such fluctuations impact drilling and
completion activity levels and thus impact the activity levels of our customers in the oilfield services and exploration and production industries. However,
because we generate the substantial majority of our revenues under long-term take-or-pay contracts, we believe we have only limited exposure to short-term
fluctuations in the prices of crude oil and natural gas. We do not currently intend to hedge our indirect exposure to commodity price risk.
Interest Rate Risk
As of September 30, 2018, the Credit Facility bears interest at our option at either:
•

LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 3.00% - 4.00% depending on the leverage ratio; or

•

ABR (as defined in the Credit Agreement), plus an applicable margin of 2.00% - 3.00%, depending on the leverage ratio.

The Credit Facility expires on December 8, 2019. The Credit Facility contains various reporting requirements, negative covenants and restrictive
provisions and requires maintenance of financial covenants, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and a leverage ratio (each as defined in the Credit
Agreement). As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had $44.5 million and $0, respectively, outstanding under the Credit Facility, and we
were in compliance with the financial covenants under the Credit Facility on such dates.
We are exposed to interest rate risk resulting from changes in interest rates. Assuming no change in the balance outstanding, an increase of 100 basis
points in the LIBOR interest rate curve would have an immaterial impact on interest expense for the year.
Credit Risk
A substantial portion of our revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was generated through long-term take-or-pay contracts with four
customers. Our customers are oil and natural gas producers and oilfield service providers, all of which were negatively impacted by the downturn in activity
in the oil and natural gas industry in recent years, and may be impacted again in the future if the oil and natural gas industry faces another activity downturn.
This concentration of counterparties operating in a single industry may increase our overall exposure to credit risk, in that the counterparties may be similarly
affected by changes in economic, regulatory or other conditions. If a customer defaults, or if any of our contracts expires in accordance with its terms, and we
are unable to renew or replace these contracts, our gross profit and cash flows may be adversely affected.
Foreign Currency Risk
Our revenues and expenses are primarily in United States dollars; however, as a result of our acquisition of Quickthree on June 1, 2018, certain revenues
and expenses are transacted in Canadian dollars. Thus, revenues, operating expenses and the results of operations are impacted to the extent that they are not
hedged by the rise and fall of the relative value of the United States dollar to the Canadian dollar. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the
revenue and expenses transacted in Canadian dollars were immaterial to the results of operations; therefore, there was minimal impact on reported net income.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on
such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting for the quarter ended September 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. We are not currently
a party to any legal proceedings that we believe would have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows and are not
aware of any material legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
As of the date of this Report, there have been no material changes in the risk factors previously included in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Our operations are subject to the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, as amended by the Mine Improvement and New Emergency Response Act
of 2006, which imposes stringent health and safety standards on numerous aspects of mineral extraction and processing operations, including the training of
personnel, operating procedures, operating equipment and other matters. Enforcement actions alleging noncompliance with such standards, or changes in
such standards or the interpretation or enforcement thereof, could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition or otherwise impose
significant restrictions on our ability to conduct mineral extraction and processing operations. Following passage of The Mine Improvement and New
Emergency Response Act of 2006, the Mine Safety and Health Administration significantly increased the dollar penalties assessed and, for many operations,
the numbers of citations and orders charged against mining operations. Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by
Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in
Exhibit 95.1 to this Report.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

3.1

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Smart Sand, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 15, 2016)

3.2

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Smart Sand, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 15, 2016)

10.1*

Third Amendment to Master Product Purchase Agreement, dated effective as of April 1, 2018, by and between the Company and
Schlumberger Technology Corporation

10.2

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement and First Amendment to Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2018, among
Smart Sand, Inc., as borrower, the subsidiaries of Smart Sand, Inc. party thereto, as guarantors, the lenders party thereto, and Jefferies
Finance LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July, 2018)

31.1*

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

31.2*

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32.1* †

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* †

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

95.1*

Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

*

Filed Herewith.

†

This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or
otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Smart Sand Inc.
November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Charles E. Young
Charles E. Young, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Smart Sand Inc.
November 8, 2018

By:

/s/ Lee E. Beckelman
Lee E. Beckelman, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF THOSE TERMS HAS BEEN REQUESTED. THE REDACTED
MATERIAL HAS BEEN SEPARATELY SUBMITTED TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, AND THE TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED AT THE
APPROPRIATE PLACE WITH THREE ASTERISKS (***).

THIRD AMENDMENT TO MASTER PRODUCT PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This THIRD AMENDMENT TO MASTER PRODUCT PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the “Amendment”) is entered into on
August 1, 2018 and effective as of April 1, 2018, by and between Smart Sand, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Smart Sand”), and
Schlumberger Technology Corporation, a Texas corporation (as successor-in-interest to Weatherford U.S., L.P., a Louisiana limited
partnership) (“Buyer”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Smart Sand and Buyer have entered into a Master Product Purchase Agreement, dated effective as of November 1,
2015, as amended by the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Product Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 20,
2016, and the Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Product Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2016 (as
amended, the “Agreement”);
WHEREAS, Smart Sand and Buyer desire to amend the Agreement to, among other things, modify certain payment obligations
set forth therein; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 15.1 of the Agreement, the Agreement may not be changed or amended except by a writing
executed by both parties.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual promises set forth herein, sufficiency of which is
acknowledged by the undersigned, the Buyer and Smart Sand hereby agree as follows:
1.
(a)

AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT. The Agreement shall be amended as follows:
Section 1.1 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“1.1 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, during the Term (as defined in Section 7.1), Smart Sand agrees to
sell and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer agrees to purchase and accept from Smart Sand, ISO grade *** mesh frac sand products
based on the specifications (the “Specifications”) set forth in Appendix C attached hereto and incorporated by reference (each a
“Product” and collectively, the “Products”), in the product mix set forth in Appendix B, and in quantities at least equal to the
following minimum quarterly and annual tonnage requirements (as applicable, the “Minimum Tons per Quarter” and
“Minimum Tons per Year”):
Contract Year
1
2
3
4
Tail Period*

Minimum Tons per Year
***
***
***
***
N/A

Minimum Tons per Quarter
***
***
***
***
***

* Consists of the two month period commencing on August 1, 2020 and ending on September 30, 2020 (the “Tail Period”).
The Tail Period shall be treated as a full quarter for purposes of this Agreement, and the Contract Price in effect at the end of
Contract Year 4 shall be the Contract Price during the Tail Period, subject to adjustment as set forth in Appendix A.
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as limiting either party’s right to enter into a purchase or sale agreement with
respect to any of the Products with a third party at any time.”
(b)

Section 1.4 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“1.4
In the event that Buyer, despite Smart Sand making the Minimum Tons per Quarter available as required herein,
purchases an amount of Products less than the Minimum Tons per Quarter in any quarter during the Term (a “ Shortfall”) and
has not, in all preceding quarters after April 1, 2018, purchased an amount of Products exceeding, in total over all of the
preceding quarters after April 1, 2018, the aggregate Minimum Tons per Quarter for all such preceding quarters (such amount
of excess Products is subject to further downward adjustment as set forth herein) (“Prior Excess”) equal to or exceeding such
Shortfall, Buyer shall pay to Smart Sand, on or before the date which is *** following the start of the ensuing quarter (or in the
case of a Shortfall for the Tail Period, *** after expiration of the Term), an amount (a “ True-Up Payment”) equal to (i) $***,
multiplied by the positive difference between the applicable Minimum Tons per Quarter for such quarter and the actual tons
purchased by the Buyer during such quarter (“Actual Tons”) plus the Prior Excess that may be applied to such Shortfall (the
“Net Tons”) (i.e. (i) Net Tons = Minimum Tons per Quarter – (Actual Tons + Prior Excess), and (ii) True-Up Payment = (Net
Tons * $***). In any given quarter where Prior Excess is greater than ***, and Prior Excess is used to calculate Net Tons for
that quarter, Prior Excess shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount Net Tons was reduced as a result of the Prior
Excess, and such amount shall no longer be used in future calculations of Prior Excess. Except as provided herein, Smart Sand
shall have no obligation to deliver to Buyer all or any portion of any Shortfall.”
(c)

Section 1.5 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“1.5
Each True-Up Payment (subject to the limitations set forth below) that is paid to Smart Sand shall be used for future
payment reductions of $*** for each ton subsequently purchased by Buyer in excess of the Minimum Tons per Quarter (the
“Deferral Bank”). At no point during the Term shall the Deferral Bank be less than $*** or more than $***. If the balance of
the Deferral Bank is greater than $***, then the Contract Price for any Products purchased in excess of the Minimum Tons per
Quarter (the “Current Excess”) shall be adjusted downward by $*** per ton, and the amount available in the Deferral Bank
shall be correspondingly reduced by an amount equal to $*** multiplied by the Current Excess. For the avoidance of doubt,
any Current Excess that is used to reduce the amount available in the Deferral Bank shall not be Prior Excess. By way of
example, (i) if the balance of the Deferral Bank is $*** and Buyer purchases *** tons of Products in a quarter, then the price
for *** tons of the Current Excess shall be reduced by $*** per ton, and the remaining *** tons of the Current Excess shall be
Prior Excess in future quarters. Unless the Agreement is terminated by Smart Sand pursuant to Section 7.2, Buyer shall have an
additional *** period after the Term (the “Extended Purchase Period”) to use amounts available in the Deferral Bank (if any)
by purchasing Products from Smart Sand. Such Products shall be

made available by Smart Sand for purchase by Buyer at the Contract Price in effect upon completion of the Term, subject to
adjustment as set forth in Appendix A and reduction in connection with the Deferral Bank as set forth herein, and purchased at
Buyer’s election at such Contract Price. Upon completion of the Extended Purchase Period, Smart Sand shall retain any and all
amounts remaining in the Deferral Bank, and Smart Sand shall have no obligations to deliver any Products in connection with
such retained amount.
(d)

A new Section 1.9 shall be added to the Agreement that states as follows:

“1.9 The parties agree that the mechanism quantifying losses arising from the failure to purchase the minimum tonnages under
this Agreement or a breach or termination of this Agreement are inherently difficult to measure and have therefore negotiated
the provisions set forth in this Agreement (including in Appendix A) for the express purpose of avoiding any later disagreement
regarding the quantum of damages. The parties further stipulate that the agreed mechanism for calculating damages is not a
penalty, but rather a reasonable measure or forecast of damages based upon the parties’ experience in the frac sand industry and
given the nature of the losses that may result from a breach or termination of this Agreement.”
(e)

Section 2.3 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“2.3 Smart Sand shall invoice Buyer upon shipment of Products. Other than as provided in Section 2.5 below, payment by
Buyer shall be due and payable within *** after receipt of invoice. For purposes of this Section, receipt of the invoice shall be
deemed to occur when the invoice is initially submitted to and accepted by Buyer’s online invoicing portal. Buyer shall have the
right to dispute in good faith all or any portion of an invoice (including invoices reflecting True-Up Payments) by providing
written notice of such dispute (together with reasonable detail of the facts underlying such dispute) to Smart Sand on or before
*** after the date the invoice is received by Buyer. If Buyer disputes any portion of an invoice in good faith, Smart Sand shall
issue a new invoice for, and Buyer shall pay, the undisputed amounts, if any. The parties shall work in good faith to resolve the
dispute. When the dispute is resolved, Smart Sand shall issue an adjustment invoice reflecting the remaining amount payable
pursuant to such dispute resolution, if applicable, and Buyer shall pay such amount as reflected on the adjustment invoice. In
addition to (and not in lieu of) any other rights and remedies that Smart Sand has hereunder, all past due invoices and late TrueUp Payments shall accrue interest at a rate equal to *** per month or the maximum rate from time to time permitted by
applicable law, whichever is lesser; provided, however, that amounts disputed by Buyer in good faith shall not accrue any
interest until such dispute has been resolved. The parties shall work expeditiously and in good faith to resolve disputes
hereunder.”
(f)
Omitted.”
(g)

Section 2.7 and Section 2.8 of the Agreement shall each be deleted in its entirety and replaced with “Intentionally
Section 7.1 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“7.1 This Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date and shall expire at 11:59 p.m. on September 30, 2020 (the
“Term”), unless sooner terminated as provided herein. The provisions of Sections 1.4 (Shortfalls), 1.5 (Deferral), 8
(Confidentiality), 10 (Limitation of Liability), 12 (Notices), 13 (Resolutions of Disputes), 14.1 (Compliance with

Law), 15 (Miscellaneous) and all appendices attached hereto shall remain in full force and effect and survive any termination of
this Agreement.”
(h)

The last sentence of Section 9 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:

“If Smart Sand’s production capacity is materially impaired after August 1, 2016 as a result of one of the foregoing events of
force majeure and such impairment continues for ***, then Buyer may, in its sole discretion, choose to terminate this Agreement
upon providing at least *** prior written notice. In the event of such termination, the parties shall have no further liability except
that Buyer shall pay all unpaid (i) amounts due and payable for Products delivered in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement, (ii) any True-Up Payments pursuant to Section 1.4, and (iii) amounts due and payable under the Railcar Usage
Agreement.
(i)

Section 12 of the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and restated as follows:
“12.

Notice

Any notice or other communication hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given and effective when
delivered personally, by fax (and confirmed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested), or by
overnight carrier, addressed to a party at its address stated below or to such other address as such party may designate by written
notice to the other party in accordance with the provisions of this Section.
To Smart Sand:
Smart Sand, Inc.
1000 Floral Vale Blvd., Suite 225
Yardley, Pennsylvania 19067
Attention: James D. Young
Facsimile: 215.295.7911
With a copy to:
Fox Rothschild LLP
997 Lenox Drive, 3rd Floor
Lawrenceville, New Jersey 08648
Attn: Vincent A. Vietti
Facsimile: 609.896.1469
To Buyer:

(j)

Schlumberger Technology Corporation
200 Schlumberger Drive,
Sugar Land, TX 77478
Attn: OneStim Supply Chain Manager

All references to “July 31, 2020” in the Agreement shall be deleted and replaced with “September 30, 2020”.

2.

GENERAL PROVISIONS.
2.1

Defined Terms. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have those definitions as set forth in the

Agreement.
2 .2 Initial Deferral Bank Payment. Smart Sand and Buyer each acknowledge and agree that, upon entering into this
Amendment, Buyer shall pay to Smart Sand $*** as an “Initial Deferal Bank Payment” and this amount shall be added to the Deferral
Bank such that, as of the effective date of this Amendment and the value of the Deferral Bank is $***.
2.3 Railcar Usage Agreement. Smart Sand and Buyer each acknowledge and agree that all references to “July 31,
2020” set forth in that certain Amended and Restated Railcar Usage Agreement, dated effective as of November 1, 2015, shall be
deleted and replaced with “September 30, 2020”.
2.4 Successors and Assigns. The terms and conditions of this Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the respective successors and assigns of the parties. Nothing in this Amendment, express or implied, is intended to confer upon
any party other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and assigns any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities under or
by reason of this Amendment, except as expressly provided in this Amendment.
2 . 5 Counterparts; Facsimile. This Amendment may be executed and delivered by facsimile signature and in two or
more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
2 . 6 Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision.
2 . 7 No Other Changes. Except as expressly amended by this Amendment, all of the terms of the Agreement shall
remain in full force and effect.
2 . 8 Entire Agreement. This Amendment, the Agreement and the agreements and documents referred to herein,
together with all the Exhibits hereto and thereto, constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the
subject matter of this Amendment, and supersede any and all prior understandings and agreements, whether oral or written, between or
among the parties hereto with respect to the specific subject matter hereof.
[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

In Witness Whereof, the parties hereto have executed this THIRD AMENDMENT TO MASTER PRODUCT PURCHASE
AGREEMENT as of the date first written above.

SMART SAND, INC.

By:

/s/ John Young

Name: John Young
Title:

COO

SCHLUMBERGER TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

By:

/s/ Luis Rodriguez

Name: Luis Rodriguez
Title:

VP Supply Chain

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Charles E. Young, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Smart Sand, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 8, 2018
/s/ Charles E. Young
Charles E. Young, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Lee E. Beckelman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Smart Sand, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 8, 2018
/s/ Lee E. Beckelman
Lee E. Beckelman, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Smart Sand, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Charles E. Young, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Dated: November 8, 2018
/s/ Charles E. Young
Charles E. Young, Chief Executive Officer
(Principle Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Smart Sand, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lee E. Beckelman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Dated: November 8, 2018
/s/ Lee E. Beckelman
Lee E. Beckelman, Chief Financial Officer
(Principle Financial Officer)

Exhibit 95.1
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
The following disclosures are provided pursuant to Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Act”) and Item
104 of Regulation S-K, which requires certain disclosures by companies required to file periodic reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, that operate mines regulated under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”).
Mine Safety Information
Whenever the Federal Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”) believes a violation of the Mine Act, any health or safety standard or any regulation
has occurred, it may issue a citation which describes the alleged violation and fixes a time within which the U.S. mining operator must abate the alleged
violation. In some situations, such as when MSHA believes that conditions pose a hazard to miners, MSHA may issue an order removing miners from the area
of the mine affected by the condition until the alleged hazards are corrected. When MSHA issues a citation or order, it generally proposes a civil penalty, or
fine, as a result of the alleged violation, that the operator is ordered to pay. Citations and orders can be contested and appealed, and as part of that process,
may be reduced in severity and amount, and are sometimes dismissed. The number of citations, orders and proposed assessments vary depending on the size
and type (underground or surface) of the mine as well as by the MSHA inspector(s) assigned.
Mine Safety Data
The following provides additional information about references used in the table below to describe the categories of violations, orders or citations issued by
MSHA under the Mine Act:
• Section 104 S&S Citations: Citations received from MSHA under section 104 of the Mine Act for violations of mandatory health or safety standards
that could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a mine safety or health hazard.
• Section 104(b) Orders: Orders issued by MSHA under section 104(b) of the Mine Act, which represents a failure to abate a citation under section
104(a) within the period of time prescribed by MSHA. This results in an order of immediate withdrawal from the area of the mine affected by the
condition until MSHA determines that the violation has been abated.
• Section 104(d) Citations and Orders: Citations and orders issued by MSHA under section 104(d) of the Mine Act for an unwarrantable failure to
comply with mandatory health or safety standards.
• Section 110(b)(2) Violations: Flagrant violations issued by MSHA under section 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act.
• Section 107(a) Orders: Orders issued by MSHA under section 107(a) of the Mine Act for situations in which MSHA determined an “imminent danger”
(as defined by MSHA) existed.
Pattern or Potential Pattern of Violations
The following provides additional information about references used in the table below to describe elevated pattern of violation enforcement actions taken
by MSHA under the Mine Act:
• Pattern of Violations: A pattern of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that are of such nature as could have significantly and
substantially contributed to the cause and effect of mine health or safety hazards under section 104(e) of the Mine Act.
• Potential Pattern of Violations: The potential to have a pattern of violations under section 104(e).
Pending Legal Actions
The following provides additional information of the types of proceedings brought before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission
(“FMSHRC”):
• Contest Proceedings: A contest proceeding may be filed by an operator to challenge the issuance of a citation or order issued by MSHA.
• Civil Penalty Proceedings: A civil penalty proceeding may be filed by an operator to challenge a civil penalty MSHA has proposed for a violation
contained in a citation or order. The Partnership does not institute civil penalty proceedings based solely on the assessment amount of proposed
penalties. Any initiated adjudications address substantive matters of law and policy instituted on conditions that are alleged to be in violation of
mandatory standards of the Mine Act.
• Discrimination Proceedings: Involves a miner’s allegation that he or she has suffered adverse employment action because he or she engaged in
activity protected under the Mine Act, such as making a safety complaint. Also includes temporary reinstatement proceedings involving cases in
which a miner has filed a complaint with MSHA stating that he or she has suffered discrimination and the miner has lost his or her position.

•
•
•

Compensation Proceedings: A compensation proceeding may be filed by miners entitled to compensation when a mine is closed by certain closure
orders issued by MSHA. The purpose of the proceeding is to determine the amount of compensation, if any, due to miners idled by the orders.
Temporary Relief: Applications for temporary relief are applications filed under section 105(b)(2) of the Mine Act for temporary relief from any
modification or termination of any order.
Appeals: An appeal may be filed by an operator to challenge judges’ decisions or orders to the Commission, including petitions for discretionary
review and review by the Commission on its own motion.

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018:
Mine (1)
Section 104 citations for violations of mandatory health or safety standards that could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a mine safety or health hazard (#)
Section 104(b) orders (#)
Section 104(d) citations and orders (#)
Section 110(b)(2) violations (#)
Section 107(a) orders (#)
Proposed assessments under MSHA (2)
Mining-related fatalities (#)
Section 104(e) notice
Notice of the potential for a pattern of violations under Section 104(e)
Legal actions before the FMSHRC initiated (#)
Legal actions before the FMSHRC resolved (#)
Legal actions pending before the FMSHRC, end of period:
Contests of citations and orders referenced in Subpart B of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Contests of proposed penalties referenced in Subpart C of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Complaints for compensation referenced in Subpart D of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Complaints of discharge, discrimination or interference referenced in Subpart E of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Applications for temporary relief referenced in Subpart F of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Appeals of judges’ decisions or orders referenced in Subpart H of 29 CFR Part 2700 (#)
Total pending legal actions (#)

Oakdale, WI
—
—
—
—
—
$1,970.00
—
No
No
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(1) The definition of mine under section 3 of the Mine Act includes the mine, as well as other items used in, or to be used in, or resulting from, the work of
extracting minerals, such as land, structures, facilities, equipment, machines, tools and minerals preparation facilities. Unless otherwise indicated, any of these
other items associated with a single mine have been aggregated in the totals for that mine. MSHA assigns an identification number to each mine and may or
may not assign separate identification numbers to related facilities such as preparation facilities. We are providing the information in the table by mine rather
than MSHA identification number because that is how we manage and operate our mining business and we believe this presentation will be more useful to
investors than providing information based on MSHA identification numbers.
(2) Represents the total dollar value of the proposed assessment from MSHA under the Mine Act pursuant to the citations and/or orders preceding such dollar
value in the corresponding row.

